

Citation: Khan, R., & Jafree, S. R. (2022). The Need for Interventions to Reduce Time Spent on Social Media and Strengthening of Family Relationships in University Students. *Global Digital & Print Media Review*, VII), 64-79. https://doi.org/10.31703/gdpmr.2022(V-II).07

Vol. V, No. II (Spring 2022)

■ Pages: 64 - 79

p- ISSN: 2788-4988

• e-ISSN: 2788-4945

URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gdpmr.2022(V-II).07

DOI: 10.31703/gdpmr.2022(V-II).07



Rania Khan *

Sara Rizvi Jafree[†]

The Need for Interventions to Reduce Time Spent on Social Media and Strengthening of Family Relationships in University Students

Abstract: Pakistan is known for its strong family bonds. University students need strong support from their families for the maintenance of ethics, health and production. However, there is fear that greater use of social media is contributing to the weakening of family relations. This research aims to identify the relationship between time spent on social media and the quality of family relationships of university students. A total of 200 students were sampled. Welch ANOVA showed that the mean difference of family relations to social media usage was statistically significant, Fw (3,92.91) = 8.258, p<0.01 and the Games Howell post hoc test reveals that the quality of family relations was significantly lower when social media usage is more than 5 hours (21.8 ± 11.1). The paper discusses possible interventions to reduce social media usage and improve family quality time, which can be helpful for policymakers, psychologists, social workers, and social welfare officers.

Contents

- Introduction
- Theoretical Framework
- Study Aims
- Methodology
- Sampling and Data Collection
- Data Analysis
- Reliability Results
- Descriptive Statistics
- Mean Results
- Discussion
- Limitations
- Conclusion
- References

Key Words: Social media, family relations, University students, Pakistan.

Introduction

Pakistani society, pre and post-independence from colonial rule, has always been known for its strong family and kinship bonds (Zaman et al., 2006). With rising urbanization, nuclear families have started to replace large extended families, but the cultural and traditional ethic of family unity and solidarity is still a part of the nation's fabric. There are multiple benefits of having strong family relations, which extend to the individual, community, and nation. Individuals gain confidence and self-esteem and learn socialization skills from the family (Staub, 1992).

Having strong family bonds benefits the community by creating a moral order and social solidarity (Grevenstein et al., 2019). The nation and economy benefit too through the efforts of the family in the financial and emotional support of individuals, especially youth (Carmichael et al., 2016). In fact, literature from the West shows that where family bonds are weak, the state has to play a wider role in financial support, day-care services, and law and order maintenance (Björnberg & Latta, 2007).

Contemporary times are characterized by the technological revolution, which includes the

* Research Assistant, BSc Honors Sociology, Department of Sociology, Forman Christian College (A Chartered University), Lahore, Punjab, Pakistan.

[†] PhD Sociology, Associate Professor, Department of Sociology, Forman Christian College (A Chartered University), Lahore, Punjab, Pakistan. Email: sarajafree@fccollege.edu.pk (Corresponding Author)

excessive use of social media applications (<u>Dubose</u>, 2011). Websites and applications that enable users to create and share content or participate in social networking are known as social media. Social networking sites such as Facebook, LinkedIn, and Instagram are very popular social applications for the youth and university students of our country. Pakistan has an approximate population of 223 million people, of which 46 million are using social media (Digital Portal, 2022). Some reports estimate that, on average, a Pakistani spends an average of one hour per day using social media, which converts to around three and a half years of an individual's life (World Times, 2022).

Time spent on social media, as described by Verduyn and colleagues (2017), refers to the number of hours spent on social media, engaging in 'direct exchanges' with other users, such as likes, comments, notifications, and other forms of interaction. Many agree that social media applications have replaced family bonding time within the house and outside it. The more people spend time on social media applications, the less time they have for family interaction and communication, weakening the parents-child and sibling relationship (Siddiqui & Singh, 2016). Excessive use of social media also prevents consultation. learning through social face-to-face interpersonal skills, and communication. Some argue that excess social media usage can rob families of an emotional connection, care instinct, and also a sense of security (Zheng & Lee, 2016). Excessive social media usage has also been shown to have a negative impact on families as it reduces the time for sharing values and ethics. Scholars have suggested that people may feel connected to social media, but it takes away their abilities to hear and see voiceless messages, which are important for family harmony, kinship networks, and community solidarity (O'Keeffe et al., 2011).

The use of social media and its impact on family relationships is a topic that affects people of all ages. One study concludes that youth who spend a lot of time using technology and who remain in front of a screen most of the day have more difficulty than their peers in understanding emotions and building relationships (George & Odgers, 2015). Studies report that the youth are

now less concerned with family matters and the challenges siblings and parents face as they become more engrossed in their computers and mobile phones, weakening the support that family used to traditionally provide (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2009). University students across the world and in Pakistan have been found to spend most of their time on social media, which results in changing personality habits and cultural values (Junejo et al., 2022). Excessive use of social media applications in university students is known to become a cause of estrangement with parents, siblings, and other significant family members, such as grandparents (Siddiqui & Singh, 2016). It can also contribute to other problems such as involvement in deviant activities (Lim, 2013); uptake of drugs and intoxicants (Gutierrez & Cooper, 2016); involvement in extremism and violence (Alava et al., 2017); and loss of selfesteem and identity crisis (Jan 2017).

It is also true that in today's world, university students are unable to leave social media as it is connected to their learning and both academic and professional advancement (Taylor et al., 2012). Pakistan has 186 universities, with a total student enrolment of 1.6 million (Government of Pakistan, 2022). Post the coronavirus pandemic, and social media usage has increased even more in the country, both due to social distancing and lockdown and also because learning and teaching have transferred online or become hybrid. Local studies report that the excessive use of social media platforms by students has endangered their family relations in terms of creating separation and lack of communication (Ali, 2016). Youth now do not seek assistance from family but look to their friends and peers, which places them at risk of harm and betrayal. Local research by Shabir and colleagues (2014) reports that high involvement with social media can contribute to community instability and even crime rates.

According to another study, the more time you spend on social media, the more loneliness you can face (Yavick et al., 2019). A few studies highlight that excessive social media usage creates problems in relationship-building and can even lead to relationship conflict and permanent separation (Clayton et al., 2013; Valenzuela et al., 2014). A Pew Research (2022) study found that nearly thirty-five per cent of individuals felt that

online media affected their relationships negatively yet were unable to stop using it. In another research, it was reported that technology causes 'interruption' between relationships preventing the normal course of relationship-building and person-to-person interaction (McDaniel, 2015). Yet another study suggests that technology can divide people, create isolation, and push individuals to spend more and more time with technology than with their families (Shahar, 2020).

According to studies, the overwhelming use of social media has pushed people away from conventional social environments, volunteer organizations, and pure relationships (Hampton et al., 2011). Furthermore, research shows that heavy use of social media increases alienation and isolation while reducing bonding between interpersonal relationships, which is also contributing to a decline in marriages (Groat, 2009). The dynamics and importance of relationships have changed as a result of social media. Youth now use social media to communicate their emotions, feelings, and difficulties with their peers without telling their parents about their concerns and challenges. This is dangerous, as a family is more proactive in getting individuals the help that they may need, for example, for mental health counselling or tuition for academic purposes (DiMatteo, 2004). Social media platforms are impacting not only a single individual but the entire family, parents, and siblings. One study highlights that even parents use excessive social media, and so their children are affected negatively due to the lack of attention and time given by parents (O'Keeffe, 2016). According to Sultana (2017), excessive use of social networking sites harms family harmony overall and leads to lasting estrangement and the breaking of family bonds.

Theoretical Framework

The uses and gratifications theory is the most commonly applied theory to explain why people engage in social media. Katz and colleagues first proposed this theory in 1973, and it was used to investigate why people use social media and how it is linked to basic human needs (Katz et al., 1973). The theory suggests that the reasons behind the excessive use of social media by

students include enhancing one's credibility, avoiding isolation, keeping track of others, and for entertainment purposes (Sheldon, 2008). Females are more likely to turn to social media to compensate for the lack of family relationships. Males, on the other hand, prefer to use media to alleviate their isolation and to build networks which will benefit them in the future.

Youth and university students are dependent on social media and are using it for long hours to satisfy their needs for social interaction and to escape loneliness (Wang et al., 2012). People may also spend more time on social media to gratify themselves when their needs for intimacy, emotional security, and companionship are not met by their families. People make online friends and may start to prefer this form of socialization and interaction, as it does not involve face-to-face interaction and instead allows a person to control settings, profile pictures and timings of interaction (Sheldon, 2008). In the case of university students, social media applications are also being used for academic and internship purposes, such as group study, communication with teachers, and sharing of syllabus content or discussion of the study area. In this way, there are many justifications for the use of social media and very little attention to how time spent on social media can lead to less time for family and other important pursuits such as self-care, healthseeking behaviour, and physical exercise (Brailovskaia et al., 2021).

Study Aims

Youth and university students are the future of a nation. The support that university students receive from their families ultimately contributes to the quality of production and ethics in Pakistani society. There is a need in today's technological world, with social media pressures, to try and maintain and maximize family quality time and family relations. Awareness needs to be built about how long individuals spend on social media and its relationship with family relations. This is essential to build healthy communication and interpersonal relationships in society and negate the ill effects of too much social media usage (Procentese et al., 2019).

This study aims to identify the relationship between time spent on social media and the quality of family relations in Pakistani university students. It is important to understand if our students are spending excessive time on social media and developing distance from their family members, and such research is scarce in the country. This study's findings will help in identifying if there is a change in the relations between students and their parents and if a problem exists. Additionally, the findings of this study can be used to help plan appropriate interventions to maintain the positive tradition and culture of strong family bonds in the country and curtailing of time spent on social media.

Methodology

Research Design and Ethics

This research is a cross-sectional quantitative study. A closed-ended survey was used to collect data using internationally standardized tools. This study received ethical clearance from the Department of Sociology faculty of Forman Christian College University (FCCU) and the Institutional Review Board of FCCU. This manuscript has been extracted from a thesis of the first author, supervised by the second author. All ethical considerations were followed by the including researchers. maintaining confidentiality and anonymity. Participants were given information about the study goals, objectives, and their role in it. All participants gave their informed consent and were informed that they could withdraw from the study at any time. All participant information has been kept securely with the authors.

Sampling and Data Collection

The selection criterion was all currently enrolled university students of Pakistan. Convenience sampling through Google Survey was used due to the coronavirus pandemic and observance of social distancing. Emails, Facebook, and WhatsApp, were used to sample students from different years of study. University department pages and student societies were approached through Facebook and Whatsapp. The settings in the Google survey were assigned to ensure that all answers were completed before submission was allowed. Settings were also applied not to save and record any confidential data of respondents. Data collection started in August

2021 and was completed at the end of October 2021. There was a low response, and repeated reminders had to be sent. Though the target was to sample as many students as possible, a final sample of 200 students, 100 male and 100 female, was included in the study analysis.

Instrument

Two internationally standardized tools were used for data collection (Appendix A). The survey consisted of 19 questions and had 3 sections. Questions 1 to 6 were socio-demographic questions. Question 7 measured the independent variable 'time spent on social media, i.e. the number of hours spent on social media (Ganda, 2014). Questions 8 to 19 measured the quality of family relations (Alolyan, 2015). The four indicators used to measure the quality of family relationships include 1) strength of the bond with family, 2) level of intimacy and understanding with family members, 3) participation in family traditions and 4) common ideas with family members. To measure the study variables, a 5point Likert scale from 'Never' to 'Always' has been used.

Data Analysis

SPSS has been used for data analysis. Data is automatically sent from Google Survey to an Excel file, enabling automatic coding and transfer to SPSS for analysis. The hypothesis for this study is that 'the more university students spend time on social media, the lower their quality of family relationships' (Sultana, 2017). The independent variable for this study is 'time spent on social media (social media is defined as the use of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or other social media applications). The dependent variable for this study is the 'quality of family relationships' (family is defined as the immediate nuclear family, including parents and siblings). Tests have been applied in consideration that the independent variable (social media usage) is categorical and the dependent variable (family relations) is continuous.

Firstly, factor analysis has been used to show the reliability of the scale. Next, descriptive statistics have been used to present the study variable frequencies and percentages. Last, Welch

ANOVA has been used to present the relationship between the study variables. There needs to be homogeneity of variances, but the data failed to meet this assumption; therefore, Welch ANOVA was used instead of ANOVA (Liu, 2015). Levene's test showed that there was no homogeneity of variance. Therefore Games-Howell Post-hoc analysis has been used to see which categories were statistically significant (Hilton & Armstrong, 2006). Significance levels at p < 0.05 have been considered significant.

Reliability Results

Table 1 presents the reliability results. Factor analysis was conducted to assess the validity of

the scale measuring family relations. The relevant items were computed to create the domain of family relations. The mean was 27.3. The results showed that for two items, factor loading was less the 0.5. These 2 items were excluded, and factor analysis was carried out again with the remaining items. This time the results showed that the remaining items have factor loading of more than 0.5, indicating the validity of the scale. The value of Cronbach's alpha was 0.89 and within the recommended interval of 0.7-0.9, showing high relative internal consistency (Brown, 2002).

Table 1. Psychometric properties of scale used in the study

Variable	Factor Loadings	Cronbach's Alpha	M ± SD
Family Relations		0.899	27.3 ± 10.0
1-Do you share with your family to	.598		
make a decision?	.390		
2-Do you feel you have got a strong	.619		
relationship with your family?	.019		
3-Do you feel that the time you	.590		
spend with your family is boring?	.390		
4-Do you find someone from your			
family who you can talk with about	.610		
your private issues?			
5-Do you feel comfortable			
discussing your special opinions and	.713		
ideas with your family?			
6-Do you feel family meetings are	.603		
meaningful?	.003		
7-Do you feel you spend more time	.585		
online than with your family?	.303		
8-Do you feel isolated when your	.636		
family is around you?	.030		
9-Do you feel that there is a lot			
common between you and your	.512		
family?			
10-Do you feel that your family	.543		
members can't understand you?	.J4J		
11-Do you feel free to show your	.667		
authentic self to your family?	.007		

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Table 2 presents the socio-demographic data of the participants. The mean age of respondents is

21.3. More than fifty per cent of respondents are male, and 49.8% are female, meaning our sample is representative of the actual population breakdown, by gender, of Pakistan. The

The Need for Interventions to Reduce Time Spent on Social Media and Strengthening of Family Relationships in University Students

participants are well distributed between all the years of study: (i) First year (11.8%), (ii) Second year (27.1%), (iii) Third year (22.0%), and (iv) Fourth year (28.1%). Nearly all of the participants (91.1%) have family members of three or less, implying that sampled population belongs to relatively smaller family groups compared to the

national average, which is around six or more people per family. The majority of the respondents (87.2%) connect to the social network once a day. Furthermore, 74.4% of respondents use Instagram compared to other social media applications.

Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Socio-demographics (N=200)

	Frequency	Percentage	Mean ± SD
Age			21.3 ± 1.41
Gender of respondent			$1.50 \pm .501$
Male	102	50.2	
Female	101	49.8	
Year of study			$2.77 \pm .989$
Freshmen	24	11.8	
Sophomore	55	27.1	
Junior	67	22.0	
Senior	57	28.1	
Number of Family Mem	bers		$2.08 \pm .296$
3 and less	184	91.1	
4 and above	18	8.9	
Connect to Social Netwo	ork		$2.84 \pm .515$
Rarely	11	5.4	
Every couple of days	13	6.4	
Once a day	177	87.2	
Several times a day	2	1.0	
Most Used App			$2.06 \pm .722$
Facebook	29	14.3	
Instagram	151	74.4	
Twitter	5	2.5	
Other	18	8.9	

Descriptive Statistics of use of social media and family relations

Table 3 presents the descriptive statistics of the use of social media. A significant number of

participants (31.5%) spend 4-5 hours on social media, whereas almost thirty per cent of university students report using more than 5 hours on social media (29.1%).

Table 3. Descriptive Statistics of use of social media (N=200)

	Frequency	Percentage
Time Spent on Social Media in a Day		
1-2 hours	30	14.8
2-3 hours	50	24.6
4-5 hours	64	31.5
More than 5 hours	59	29.1

Table 4 presents the descriptive statistics for responses to family time. Most of the participants

share decision-making with their families and consult with them (57.2%). A majority of the

respondents feel that they have a strong relationship with their families (65.5%). Furthermore, 54.2% of the respondents have someone in their families with whom they can talk about their private issues. The majority feel comfortable discussing their special opinions and ideas with their families (52.2%), and many also

feel that family meetings are meaningful (69.4%). However, some of the respondents feel that the time they spend with their family is boring (14.3%). A near majority (44.9%) of respondents feel that they spend more time online than with their families, and 16.7% feel isolated when their family is around them.

Table 4. Descriptive Statistics for family relations (N=200)

	Never/Rarely/Sometimes (%)	Often/Always (%)
I consult family when making a decision	42.9	57.2
I feel I have a strong relationship with my family	34.4	65.5
I feel the time spent with my family is boring	85.7	14.3
I have someone in my family who I can talk with about your private issues	54.2	45.8
I feel comfortable discussing my opinions & ideas with my family	47.7	52.2
I feel family meetings are meaningful	30.6	69.4
I feel I spend more time online than with my family	55.2	44.9
I feel isolated when my family is around me	83.3	16.7
I feel there is a lot in common between my family and me	50.3	49.7
I feel that my family members can't understand me	70.9	29.1
I feel free to show my authentic self to my family	56.2	43.9

Mean Results

Table 5 presents the Welch ANOVA and Posthoc comparisons to assess mean differences in family relations compared to time spent on social media. The results of Welch ANOVA showed that the mean difference between family relations to social media usage was statistically significant, Fw (3,92.91) = 8.258, p<0.01. The Games Howell post hoc test reveals that the quality of family

relations was significantly lower when social media usage is more than 5 hours (21.8 \pm 11.1) as compared to 4 – 5 hours (28.8 \pm 8.00, p = 0.001), 2 – 3 hours (28.9 \pm 8.47, p = 0.001), and 1 – 2 hours (32.2 \pm 9.74, p = 0.00). From the four averages, it is clear that as the usage of social media increases, the average family score decreases, and there is a clear negative correlation between the study variables.

Table 5. Welch ANOVA and Post-hoc comparisons results for time spent on social media as a predictor of family relations

Predictor variable	M ± SDA	<i>p-</i> value	MD ± SE ^c	MD ± SE	MD ± SE
Time spent on social media		<.001	2 – 3 hours	4 – 5 hours	> 5 hours
<2 Hours	32.2 ± 9.74		3.28 ± 2.14 ns	$3.42 \pm 2.04^{\rm ns}$	$10.4 \pm 2.29^*$
2-3 hours	28.9 ± 8.47			$0.14 \pm 1.56^{\rm ns}$	7.12 ± 1.88**

The Need for Interventions to Reduce Time Spent on Social Media and Strengthening of Family Relationships in University Students

Predictor variable	M ± SDA	<i>p-</i> value	MD ± SE ^c	MD ± SE	MD ± SE
4-5 hours	28.8 ± 8.00				6.99 ± 1.76**
>5 Hours	21.8 ± 11.1				

Discussion

This study aimed to understand the relationship between time spent on social media and the quality of family relations in university students. We found that the scale used for this study to measure the quality of family relations shows high reliability and can be used to sample university students in the future by other scholars in the country. The results of this study support the study hypothesis that the more university students spend time on social media, the lower their quality of family relationships. Previous literature corroborates our research findings, confirming that more than half of youth who use social networking sites for long hours have a poor relationship with their parents and family (Sultana, 2017). We were also able to sample university students who were representative of the actual population breakdown, by gender, of Pakistan. Nearly all of the participants have family members of three or less, implying that the sampled population belongs to relatively smaller family groups compared to the national average, which is around six or more people per family. Our results suggest that perhaps smaller families are able to exert less pressure to spend time with each other. Some research suggests that the larger the families, the greater likelihood of their being pressured to spend time with each other and engage in family pursuits (Bossard, 2016).

We also found that nearly all the participants use social media applications once a day and that more than sixty per cent of them spend more than 4 hours a day using social media, which is much higher than the reported national average of one hour a day (World Times, 2022). Our study highlights the die need for social interventions and social media policy reform to limit social usage, given that scholars psychologists recommend that social media should be used for less than 30 minutes a day (Hunt et al., 2018). Almost eighty per cent of our participants use Instagram more than any other social media application, highlighting that Instagram is the lead application which can be used for salient messages to be communicated to

the youth pertaining to interfaith harmony, public health, and national solidarity. In the same vein, all social media application, especially Instagram, needs to be monitored for their content by the government of Pakistan and social media regulators in the country.

Our findings have implications for wider study, as the use of excessive social media does not just affect one individual but the entire family, including parents and siblings (O'Keeffe, 2016). Parents, children, and siblings can all experience estrangement and loneliness. Another study reports that due to the rise in social media, the transmission of cultural values from parents and elders to children is declining (Ali, 2016). The cultural values and our cultural system encompass caring for the family, spending time with them on a daily basis, sitting together for meals, playing with younger siblings, and tutoring them for studies. Other scholars confirm that it is social media is the leading cause of 'interruption' and disruption between the parent and child relationship and the sibling relationship (McDaniel, 2015). When people use social media more, all of these family values and activities are disrupted or abandoned. More and more parents are complaining about their children not listening to them, remaining distracted or being unable to hold a conversation due to consistent use of smartphones and social media. The social media world has an attraction and addictive quality, which prevents youth from easily abandoning or reducing usage, necessitating formal and planned interventional help.

There is great fear that excessive social media use among university students in Pakistan can also contribute to loneliness and isolation (Zaffar et al., 2015). It is common for youth to attempt to come out of the state of loneliness by using even more social media. This can create a negative spiral and compound the problem. Our study results imply that serious interventions are needed to make youth and families aware of the negative effects of excessive social media usage, specifically estrangement from family members. Separation from family can result in multiple and

compounding problems such as loss of self-esteem, security, values, and emotional support, and the possible inclination toward deviant behaviour. Other findings also confirm that a lack of quality time spent with the family shows a negative impact on individual lives (Sultana, 2017).

Our findings can be used to plan interventions targeting two broad areas: (i) limiting the use of social media and (ii) increasing family quality of life. University students specifically need support in planning and balancing their lives in a way that their academic, social and family lives are managed in a healthy manner without compromising any of the three. With regard to interventions for limiting social media usage, some scholars, based on the cognitive-behavioural model, suggest cognitive distortions, such as the ruminative cognitive style, are the primary cause of excessive internet use (Davis, 2001; Liu & Peng, 2009). In lieu of this, an intervention has been designed to reduce internet usage through the following means (Hou et al., 2019): A. Asking participants to reflect on: (i) their excessive use of social media use and other meaningful things they could have done instead, (ii) the benefits and adverse effects of using social media versus alternative activities they could be doing; B. Asking participants to write down their reflection notes and paste it: (i) on their lock screen of the phone, and (ii) on their work desks. The latter is aimed to serve as reminders to reduce social media usage. The results of this intervention were effective in reducing university students' social media addiction and improving their mental health and academic efficiency.

Different research confirms that education and awareness-based interventions with parents and families can improve family relations and reduce social media usage. In fact, family-level support-based interventions for university students can produce beneficial results with respect to a reduction in deviant behaviour and use of intoxicants (Mallet et al., 2011; Turrisi et al., 2001). Numerous interventions and activities have been shown to be effective in improving family relations and family engagement, including (i) improving communication in disadvantaged families (Charles et al., 2014), (ii)

improving awareness of child development and stability in parents (Cowan & Cowan, 2002), (iii) improving sibling relations (Rediy & Tefera, 2020), (iv) travelling together (Durko & Petrick, 2013), (v) playing board games together (Rogerson & Gibbs 2018), and (vi) playing sports, singing or playing musical instruments together (Lehto et al., 2012). There is a need in today's technological world, with social media pressures, to try and maintain and maximize family quality time and family relations through increasing time for family meals, game nights, quality talk time, watching TV and movies together, and increasing face-to-face interactions (Baker et al., 2016).

Another study has highlighted those selfcontrol strategies are best for limiting social media usage. Some of the possible examples of self-control strategies that have worked in university students include (Brevers & Turel, 2019): (i) inculcating less interest in social media; (ii) building or choosing a safe context with no direct access to social media, for example, leaving the phone in another room or putting the WiFi off (iii) modifying features on the device, for example, putting phone off aeroplane mode or using an internet blocker; (iv) limiting the use of social media and assigning timings, for example, no use of social media at home or during family dinner: (v) use of self-talk for reminders about adverse effects of social media on mental health and family relations; and (vi) straightforward self-control.

In another vein altogether, there have been some studies that argue that instead of targeting a reduction in social media usage, instead, effort needs to be made to use social media as a medium to improve family relations among university students (Padilla-Walker, 2012). This may especially be valid, considering that university scholars may not be living at home, and physical distances are inevitable. Even students who do live at home may be spending the majority of hours at the college campus, in the library or with friends outside the home. Local scholars have reported that university students are unable to separate from social media, suggesting that one way to improve family integration is to encourage the family to communicate through social media (Igbal et al., 2021). Parents can opt to make social media accounts like Facebook and

Instagram to chat and view their children's profiles and updates, whereas youth can help their parents to learn how to use social media, so they remain in contact on a daily basis. Other studies suggest that social media use can even help to improve self-concept and identity development within the family (Sponcil, & Gitimu, 2013).

International literature confirms that college students find it convenient and easy to use social media to communicate with their parents, as long as their parents are also using the same sites and making an effort to remain in touch (Sharaievska & Stodolska, 2017). It is also important that parents do not stalk or embarrass their children on social media and instead learn to support and understand their social media posts and projections. Another systematic literature review confirmed that social media is being used in unique ways to build family relations and strengthen communication, especially when there are distances and in-person time is not possible. Social media platforms allow families to regularly communicate photos and stories and share rituals in a way that can build bonds and create positive reminders about family values (Abel et al., 2021). Two recent local studies found that social media can help in keeping family members in touch and sustain intergenerational learning (Rizvi Jafree et al., 2021) and that social media can also be used to maintain links with religious centres and overall spiritual values (Rizvi Jafree, 2021).

Our research findings can be used to create strategies to limit the social media usage of university students and to improve the quality of family relations. This research is also valuable for psychologists, social workers, and social welfare officers, who can plan counselling and support to improve the quality of family relations and upscale the level of bonding between them. Moreover, future research can be carried out on the same topic with a larger sampled population for more generalizable results. More research is also needed about how social media usage can be used in Pakistani society to improve the quality of family relations, for example, by training parents and grandparents who live in separate

houses for social media use so they can communicate with their children and grandchildren.

Limitations

The limitations of this study are that the data was collected from university students who tend to have more social media use. Another limitation is that data were only collected online through surveys due to the pandemic. Additionally, the sample size was small, preventing the use of parametric tests. This research has been helpful in its own way in raising awareness amongst the participants about the relationship between social media usage and the ill effects on family quality of life. More research in this area is needed in the country, involving other age groups and even rural communities where social media usage is on the rise. Attempts also must be made to explore other consequences of excessive social media usage, such as participation in deviant activities and physical and mental health effects.

Conclusion

Social media is now a part of contemporary society. In fact, work and academic studies cannot be separated from social media usage. However, our study shows that university students in Pakistan are using social media excessively and that this is contributing to a decline in the quality of family relations. Given that Pakistan has a unique cultural history of strong family bonds and that family relations are key to the stability and development of individuals, communities and nations, there is a need for dire efforts on two fronts. First, interventions for reducing social media usage and monitoring it are important for the health of individuals and the safety of society. Second, there is a need for family-level interventions to improve family quality time so that individuals and the community benefits from the emotional, financial and physical support provided by the family unit. Youth needs to be made aware of the importance of creating a balance between social media and family time before it is too late and Pakistani society's family values disintegrate.

References

- Abel, S., Machin, T., & Brownlow, C. (2021). Social media, rituals, and long-distance family relationship maintenance: A mixed-methods systematic review. *New Media & Society, 23*(3), 632-654.
- Alava, S., Frau-Meigs, D., & Hassan, G. (2017). Youth and violent extremism on social media: mapping the research. UNESCO Publishing.
- Ali, R. (2016). Social Media and Youth in Pakistan: Implications on Family Relations. Global Media Journal, 14(26:24), 1-06. https://www.globalmediajournal.com/open-access/social-media-and-youth-in-pakistan-implications-on-family-relations.pdf
- Alolyan, A. A. (2015). The perceived impact of the internet on family and social relations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (Doctoral dissertation, Manchester Metropolitan University).
- Baker, T. L., Wise, J., Kelley, G., & Skiba, R. J. (2016). Identifying barriers: Creating solutions to improve family engagement. *School Community Journal*, 26(2), 161-184.
- Björnberg, U., & Latta, M. (2007). The roles of the family and the welfare state: the relationship between public and private financial support in Sweden. *Current* sociology, 55(3), 415-445.
- Bossard, J. H. (2016). *The large family system. In The Large Family System.* University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Brailovskaia, J., Ozimek, P., & Bierhoff, H. W. (2021). How to prevent side effects of social media use (SMU)? Relationship between daily stress, online social support, physical activity and addictive tendencies A longitudinal approach before and during the first Covid-19 lockdown in Germany. *Journal of Affective Disorders Reports*, 5, 100144.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100144

Brevers, D., & Turel, O. (2019). Strategies for self-controlling social media use: Classification and role in preventing social media addiction symptoms. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, &(3), 554–563. https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.8.2019.49

- Brown, J. D. (2002). The Cronbach alpha reliability estimate. *JALT Testing & Evaluation SIG Newsletter, 6*(1).
- Carmichael, S. G., Dilli, S., & van Zanden, J. L. (2016). Introduction: Family systems and economic development. *Economic History of Developing Regions*, *31*(1), 1-9.
- Charles, P., Jones, A., & Guo, S. (2014). Treatment effects of a relationship-strengthening intervention for economically disadvantaged new parents. *Research on Social Work Practice, 24*(3), 321-338.
- Clayton, R. B., Nagurney, A., & Smith, J. R. (2012). *Cheating, Breakup, and Divorce: Is Facebook Use to Blame?* Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking.
- Cowan, P. A., & Cowan, C. P. (2002). Interventions as tests of family systems theories: Marital and family relationships in children's development and psychopathology. *Development and psychopathology*, *14*(4), 731-759.
- tion%20in%20January%202021.

 Davis, R. (2001). A cognitive-behavioral model of pathological Internet use. *Computers in Human Behavior*. 17(2). 187–195.
 - Human Behavior, 17(2), https://doi.org/10.1016/s0747-5632(00)00041-8
- DiMatteo, M. R. (2004). Social support and patient adherence to medical treatment: a meta-analysis. *Health psychology*, *23*(2), 207.
- Dubose, C. (2011). The social media revolution. *Radiologic technology*, 83(2), 112-119.
- Durko, A. M., & Petrick, J. F. (2013). Family and relationship benefits of travel experiences: A literature review. *Journal of Travel Research*, *52*(6), 720-730.
- Ganda, M. (2014). Social media and self: Influences on the formation of identity and understanding of self through social networking sites.
- George, M. J., & Odgers, C. L. (2015). Seven fears and the science of how mobile technologies

- may be influencing adolescents in the digital age. *Perspectives on psychological science*, 10(6), 832-851.
- Government of Pakistan, (2022) *Economy Chapter*,
 - https://www.finance.gov.pk/survey/chapter s_19/10-Education.pdf
- Grevenstein, D., Bluemke, M., Schweitze, J., & Aguilar-Raab, C. (2019). Better family relationships—higher well-being: The connection between relationship quality and health-related resources. Mental Health and Protection.
- Groat, K. (2009). Collapse of the world's fundamental social unit: Mass media's tremendous impact on families.

 Undergraduate Research Journal for the Human Sciences, 8(1).

 https://www.kon.org/urc/v8/groat.html
- Gutierrez, K. M., & Cooper, T. V. (2016). The use of social networking sites: A risk factor for using alcohol, marijuana, and synthetic cannabinoids? *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 163, 247–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.0 3.021
- Hampton, K. N., Goulet, L. S., Rainie, L., & Purcell, K. (2011). *Social networking sites and our lives 1*,1-85. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project.
- Hilton, A., & Armstrong, R. A. (2006). Statnote 6: post-hoc ANOVA tests. Microbiologist, 2006, 34-36.
- Hou, Y., Xiong, D., Jiang, T., Song, L., & Wang, Q. (2019). Social media addiction: Its impact, mediation, and intervention. *Cyberpsychology: Journal of Psychosocial Research on Cyberspace*, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.5817/cp2019-1-4
- Hunt, M. G., Marx, R., Lipson, C., & Young, J. (2018). No more FOMO: Limiting social media decreases loneliness and depression. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 37(10), 751-768.
- Iqbal, A., Firdous, R., & Hussain, T. (2021). Social Media and Family Integration: Perception of College Students of Faisalabad. Global Regional Review, V(II), 12–19. https://doi.org/10.31703/grr.2021(vi-ii).02

- Jan, M., Soomro, S., & Ahmad, N. (2017). Impact of social media on self-esteem. *European Scientific Journal*, 13(23), 329-341.
- Junejo, H. K., Hussain, N., & Lashari, A. R. (2022). Social Media Usage among University Students and its Impact on Academic Performance, Learning Attitudes and Subjective Wellbeing.
- Kaplan, A.M, & Haenlein, M (2009) The fairyland of second life: virtual social worlds and how to use them. *Business Horizon 52*: 563-572.
- Katz, E., Blumler, J. G., & Gurevitch, M. (1973). Uses and gratifications research. *The public opinion quarterly*, *37*(4), 509-523.
- Lehto, X. Y., Lin, Y. C., Chen, Y., & Choi, S. (2012). Family vacation activities and family cohesion. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 29(8), 835-850.
- Lim, S. S. (2013). On mobile communication and youth "deviance": Beyond moral, media and mobile panics. *Mobile Media & Communication*, *1*(1), 96-101.
- Liu, H. (2015). Comparing Welch ANOVA, a Kruskal-Wallis test, and traditional ANOVA in case of heterogeneity of variance. Virginia Commonwealth University.
- Liu, M., & Peng, W. (2009). Cognitive and psychological predictors of the negative outcomes associated with playing MMOGs (massively multiplayer online games). Computers in Human Behavior, 25, 1306–1311.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2009.06.002

- Mallett, K. A., Turrisi, R., Ray, A. E., Stapleton, J., Abar, C., Mastroleo, N. R., ... & Larimer, M. E. (2011). Do parents know best? Examining the relationship between parenting profiles, prevention efforts, and peak drinking in college students 1. *Journal* of Applied Social Psychology, 41(12), 2904-2927.
- McDaniel, B. (2015). Technoference: *How Technology Can Hurt Relationships*. https:// ifstudies.org/blog/technoference-how-technology-can-hurt-relationships
- O'Keeffe, G. S. (2016). Social Media: Challenges and Concerns for Families. *Pediatr Clin N Am, 63*(1), 841–849.

- O'Keeffe, G. S., Clarke-Pearson, K., & Council on Communications and Media. (2011). The impact of social media on children, adolescents, and families. *Pediatrics*, 127(4), 800-804.
- Padilla-Walker, L. M., Coyne, S. M., & Fraser, A. M. (2012). Getting a high-speed family connection: Associations between family media use and family connection. *Family Relations*, 61(3), 426-440.
- Pew Research (2022) Teens, social media & technology 2018. http://publicservicesalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Teens-Social-Media-Technology-2018-PEW.pdf
- Procentese, F., Gatti, F., & Napoli, I. D. (2019).

 Families and Social Media Use: The Role of Parents' Perceptions about Social Media Impact on Family Systems in the Relationship between Family Collective Efficacy and Open Communication. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health, 16(1), 1-11.
- Rediy, S., & Tefera, B. (2020). A family-based behavioral intervention to enhance family communication and family cohesion among siblings in polygamous family. Clinical and Experimental Psychology.
- Rizvi Jafree, S. (2021). Transmitting religious values through online religious communities: case study of Pakistani Shia mothers' home education. *Journal of Beliefs & Values*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/13617672.2021.1992
- Rizvi Jafree, S., Mahmood, Q. K., Burhan, S. K., & Khawar, A. (2021). Protective Factors for Life Satisfaction in Aging Populations Residing in Public Sector Old Age Homes of Pakistan: Implications for Social Policy. *Journal of Aging and Environment*, 36(2), 136–155.
 - $\frac{\text{https://doi.org/10.1080/26892618.2021.1887}}{042}$
- Rogerson, M. J., & Gibbs, M. (2018). Finding time for tabletop: Board game play and parenting. *Games and Culture, 13*(3), 280-300.
- Shabir, G., Safdar, Y. M., & Gilani, S. M. (2014). The Impact of social media on Youth: A Case Study of Bahawalpur City. *Asian*

- Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities, 3(4), 132-151.
- Shahar, R. N. B. (2020). "Mobile internet is worse than the internet; it can destroy our community": Old Order Amish and Ultra-Orthodox Jewish women's responses to cellphone and smartphone use. *The Information Society, 36*(1), 1-18.
- Sharaievska, I., & Stodolska, M. (2017). Family satisfaction and social networking leisure. *Leisure studies*, *36*(2), 231-243.
- Sheldon, P. (2008). Student favorite: Facebook and motives for its use. *Southwestern Mass Communication Journal*, *23*(2), 39-53.
- Siddiqui, S., & Singh, T. (2016). Social Media its Impact with Positive and Negative Aspects. International Journal of Computer Applications Technology and Research, 5(2), 71-75.
- Sponcil, M., & Gitimu, P. (2013). Use of social media by college students: Relationship to communication and self-concept. *Journal of Technology Research*, 4(1), 37-49.
- Staub, E. (1992). The *origins of caring, helping,* and nonaggression: Parental socialization, the family system, schools, and cultural influence. Embracing the other: Philosophical, psychological, and historical perspectives on altruism, 390-412.
- Sultana, S. (2017). Social Networking Sites (SNS) and family relationship: A study on youths of Dhaka City. IOSR *Journal of Humanities* and Social Science, 22(4), 46-52
- Taylor, R., King, F., & Nelson, G. (2012). Student learning through social media. *Journal of Sociological Research*, 3(2), 29-35.
- Turrisi, R., Jaccard, J., Taki, R., Dunnam, H., & Grimes, J. (2001). Examination of the short-term efficacy of a parent intervention to reduce college student drinking tendencies. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 15*(4), 366–372. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.15.4.366
- Valenzuela, S., Halpern, D., & Katz, J. E. (2014). Social network sites, marriage well-being and divorce: Survey and state-level evidence from the United States. *Computers* in *Human Behavior*, *36*, 94-101.
- Verduyn, P., Lee, D. S., Park, J., Shablack, H., Orvell, A., Bayer, J., ... & Kross, E. (2015). Passive Facebook usage undermines

- affective well-being: Experimental and longitudinal evidence. Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 144(2), 480
- Wang, Z., Tchernev, J. M., & Solloway, T. (2012). A dynamic longitudinal examination of social media use, needs, and gratifications among college students. *Computers in human behavior*, 28(5), 1829-1839.
- World Times. (2022). How much time does a user spend on social media? <a href="https://www.jworldtimes.com/old-site/others/how-much-time-does-a-user-spend-on-social-media/#:~:text=A%2C%20SM%20user%20from%20Pakistan,and%2030%20sec%20a%20y
- Yavich, R., Davidovitch, N., & Frenkel, Z. (2019). Social Media and Loneliness--Forever Connected?. *Higher Education Studies, 9*(2), 10-21.

- Zaman, R., Stewart, S., & Zaman, T. (2006).

 Pakistan: Culture, community, and filial obligations in a Muslim society. In J. Georgas, J. Berry, F. Van de Vijver, Ç Kagitçibasi, & Y. Poortinga (Eds.), Families Across Cultures: A 30-Nation Psychological Study, 427-434. Cambridge: Cambridge University

 Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511489822.032
- Zaffar, M., Mahmood, S., Saleem, M., & Zakaria, E. (2015). Facebook addiction: Relation with depression, anxiety, loneliness and academic performance of Pakistani students. *Science International (Lahore)*, 27(3), 2469-2475.
- Zheng, X., & Lee, M. K. (2016). Excessive use of mobile social networking sites: Negative consequences on individuals. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *65*, 65-76.

Appendix A

Survey Questionnaire

Questions 1 to 6 are demographic questions.

Questions 7 measure the time *spent on social media*. Questions 8 to 19 measure *the* quality of family relations.

Demographics

1	Age				
2	Gender				
3	What is your year of study at FCCU?	Freshmen	Sophomore	Junior	Senior
4	How many members are there in your family?	3 and less		4 and above	
5	How frequently do you connect yourself to social networks?	Rarely	Every couple of days	Once a day	Several times a day
6	Which App do you use most?	Facebook	Instagram	Twitter	Other

Questionnaire for measuring time spent on social media. (Ganda 2014)

7	How much time do	1-2	2-3	4-5	More
	you spend on social				
	media (e.g.,				
	Facebook, Instagram,				
	Twitter, or other) in a				
	day?				

Questionnaire for measuring family relations (Alolyan, 2015)

		Never	Rarely	Sometime	Often	Always
8	Do you share with your family to make a decision?					
9	Do you feel you have got a strong relationship with your family?					
10	Do you feel that the time you spend with your family is boring?					
11	Do you find someone from your family who you can talk with about					

	·					
		Never	Rarely	Sometime	Often	Always
	your private					
	issues?					
12	Do you feel					
	comfortable					
	discussing your					
	special opinions,					
	ideas with your					
	family?					
13	Do you feel family					
	meetings are					
	meaningful?					
15	Do you feel you					
	spend more time					
	online than with					
	your family?					
16	Do you feel isolated					
	when your family					
	is around you?					
17	Do you feel that					
	there is a lot					
	common between					
	you and your					
	family?					
18	Do you feel that					
	your family					
	members can't					
	understand you?					
19	Do you feel free to					
	show your					
	authentic self to					
	your family?					